Before the

Administrative Hearing Commission

State of Missouri

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND 
)

SENIOR SERVICES, BUREAU OF 
)

EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES, 
)


)


Petitioner,
)


)


vs.
)

No.  03-1998 DH


)

RAYFORD WAYNE BARNES,
)


)


Respondent.
)

DECISION


Rayford Wayne Barnes’ emergency medical technician (EMT) license is subject to discipline because Barnes:  pled guilty to a crime involving moral turpitude and an essential element of which is fraud and dishonesty; obtained or attempted to obtain a fee by fraud, deception, or misrepresentation; demonstrated incompetency, misconduct, fraud, misrepresentation, and dishonesty; and violated a professional trust or confidence.  

Procedure


The Department of Health and Senior Services, Bureau of Emergency Medical Services (Department) filed a complaint on October 9, 2003.  On December 18, 2003, the Department filed a motion for summary determination of its complaint.  Our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.440(3)(B) provides that we may decide this case without a hearing if the Department establishes facts that (i) Barnes does not dispute and (ii) entitle the Department to a favorable 

decision.  ITT Commercial Fin. Corp. v. Mid-Am. Marine Supply Corp., 854 S.W.2d 371, 380-82 (Mo. banc 1993).  


We gave Barnes until January 9, 2004, to file a response to the motion, but he did not respond.  

Findings of Fact


1.  Barnes is licensed by the Department as an EMT-Basic, and his license was current and active at all relevant times. 


2.  On or about October 26, 1999, Campbell Ambulance transported a 53-year-old female, P.C., a Medicaid beneficiary, from her home to Doctors’ Hospital to be evaluated by the mental health department.  EMT Keho prepared the original Missouri Ambulance Reporting Form (MARF), which indicated that P.C. was to have her medication adjusted at the hospital because her thoughts were mixed up and she was walking slowly and was shaky at times.  The MARF further indicated that the patient was alert, oriented, and talked during the trip.  


3.  Barnes rewrote the MARF and falsely identified the location of the pickup as the Campbell Medical Clinic, when P.C. was actually picked up at her home.  Barnes further indicated in the MARF that P.C. could not walk and was very confused due to a chemical imbalance caused by her medication.  


4.  Barnes prepared and submitted a Medicaid claim form that included false diagnosis codes:  298.9 Unspecified Psychosis, 300.12 Psychogenic Amnesia, and 40.1 Rhinoscleroma.  


5.  The United States Attorney filed a nine-count indictment in the United States District Court, Eastern District of Missouri, charging Barnes with making false statements relating to health care matters in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1035.  The indictment charged that Barnes and another person:

in a matter involving a health care benefit program, knowingly and willfully made and used, and caused to be made and used, materially false writings and documents knowing the same to contain materially false, fictitious, and fraudulent statements and entries in connection with the delivery of or payment for health care benefits, items, and services, in that the Defendant[s] stated and represented that certain patients could be moved only by stretcher, that the ambulance transports were medically necessary, and that any other method of transportation was contraindicated, when the Defendants then and there well knew said statements and representations were false. 

(Comp. Ex. 3 at 16.)


6.  On September 20, 2002, Barnes signed a stipulation of facts relative to sentencing, admitting that he engaged in the conduct described in Findings 2 through 4.  


7.  On December 6, 2002, Barnes pled guilty to Count IX of the indictment, which, as set forth in Findings 2 through 4, involved patient P.C.  The court placed him on probation.  The court ordered him to perform 20 hours of community service and pay restitution to Arkansas Blue Cross Blue Shield in the amount of $10,000.  The court also prohibited Barnes from incurring any new credit charges or opening additional lines of credit without the approval of the United States Probation Office so long as there was a balance on the amount of restitution imposed.  United States v. Barnes, Case No. 4:02CR227DJS.  

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear the Department’s complaint.  Section 190.165.
  The Department has the burden to show that Barnes engaged in conduct for which the law allows discipline.  Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  


The Department alleges that Barnes’ license is subject to discipline under § 190.165.2(2), (4), (5), (6), and (12), and 19 CSR 30-40.365(2)(B), (D), (E), (F), and (L).  Section 190.165.2 provides:


2.  The department may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621, RSMo, against any holder of any certificate, permit or license required by sections 190.100 to 190.245 or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered his or her certificate, permit or license for failure to comply with the provisions of sections 190.100 to 190.245 or any lawful regulations promulgated by the department to implement such sections.  Those regulations shall be limited to the following:  

*   *   *


(2) Being finally adjudicated and found guilty, or having entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of any state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any activity licensed or regulated pursuant to sections 190.100 to 190.245, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed;

*   *   *   


(4) Obtaining or attempting to obtain any fee, charge, tuition or other compensation by fraud, deception or misrepresentation; 


(5) Incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of the functions or duties of any activity licensed or regulated by sections 190.100 to 190.245; 


(6) Violation of, or assisting or enabling any person to violate, any provision of sections 190.100 to 190.245, or of any lawful rule or regulation adopted by the department pursuant to sections 190.100 to 190.245; 

*   *   *  


(12) Violation of any professional trust or confidence[.]

Regulation 19 CSR 30-40.365(2) provides: 

(2) The department may cause a complaint to be filed with the Administrative Hearing Commission as provided by Chapter 621, RSMo, against any holder of any certificate, permit or license required by the comprehensive emergency medical services systems act or any person who has failed to renew or has 

surrendered his or her certificate, permit or license for failure to comply with the provisions of the comprehensive emergency medical services systems act or for any of the following reasons:

*   *   *


(B) Being finally adjudicated and found guilty, or having entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of any state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any activity licensed or regulated pursuant to the comprehensive emergency medical services systems act, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed;

*   *   *   


(D) Obtaining or attempting to obtain any fee, charge, tuition or other compensation by fraud, deception, or misrepresentation; 


(E) Incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of the functions or duties of any activity licensed or regulated by the comprehensive emergency medical services systems act;


(F) Violation of, or assisting or enabling any person to violate, any provision of the comprehensive emergency medical services systems act, or of any lawful rule or regulation adopted by the department pursuant to the comprehensive emergency medical services systems act; 

*   *   *  


(L) Violation of any professional trust or confidence[.]

I.  Guilty Plea


Barnes pled guilty to a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1035, which provides:  

a) Whoever, in any matter involving a health care benefit program, knowingly and willfully—

(1) falsifies, conceals, or covers up by any trick, scheme, or device a material fact; or

(2) makes any materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statements or representations, or makes or uses any materially false writing or document knowing the same to contain any materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or entry, in connection with the delivery of or payment for health care benefits, items, or services, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 5 years, or both.

Although the Department does not argue this point, Barnes pled guilty to an offense that is reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of the profession.  The crime pertains to health care benefits and services, and Barnes acknowledges that he committed the crime in the course of his professional employment as an EMT.  


The Department argues that Barnes pled guilty to an offense involving moral turpitude.  Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”

In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 (Mo. banc 1929)).  

The crime of making false statements relating to health care matters involves moral turpitude because it is contrary to good morals and involves baseness and depravity.  Therefore, Barnes’ license is subject to discipline under § 190.165.2(2) and 19 CSR 30-40.365(2)(B). 


The Department also argues that fraud and dishonesty are essential elements of making false statements relating to health care matters.  An essential element is one that must be present to prove every case.  State ex rel. Atkins v. Missouri State Bd. of Accountancy, 351 S.W.2d 483, 485 (Mo. App. K.C.D. 1961).  Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another or to act in reliance upon it.  Hernandez v. State Bd. of Regis’n for Healing Arts, 936 S.W.2d 894, 899 n.2 (Mo. App., W.D. 1997).  It necessarily includes dishonesty.  Fraud and dishonesty are essential elements of the federal crime of making false statements relating to health care matters.  


Therefore, Barnes is subject to discipline under § 190.165.2(2) and Regulation 19 CSR 30-40.365(2)(B) because he pled guilty to an offense:  1) that is reasonably related to the functions and duties of the profession, 2) that involves moral turpitude, and 3) an essential element of which is fraud and dishonesty.  

II.  Obtaining Fee by Fraud, Misrepresentation, or Deception


Barnes entered into a stipulation relative to sentencing in the federal court, admitting that he engaged in the conduct described in Findings 2 through 4.  The Department asserts cause to discipline not only based on the guilty plea, but on the underlying conduct itself.  

Misrepresentation is a falsehood or untruth made with the intent and purpose of deceit.  Missouri Dental Bd. v. Bailey, 731 S.W.2d 272, 274-75 (Mo. App., W.D. 1987).  Deception is defined as "an act designed to deceive, to cheat someone by inducing their reliance on clever contrivance or misrepresentation."  State ex rel. Nixon v. Telco Directory Publishing, 863 S.W.2d 596, 600 (Mo. banc 1993).  It is the act of causing someone to accept as true what is not true.  MERRIAM-WEBSTER'S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 298 (10th ed. 1993).  Barnes obtained or attempted to obtain a fee by fraud, deception, or misrepresentation.  Therefore, there is cause for discipline under § 190.165.2(4).

III.  Incompetency, Misconduct, Fraud, Dishonesty, 

and Misrepresentation

Incompetency is either a licensee's general lack of present ability, or lack of a disposition to use his otherwise sufficient present ability, to perform a given duty.  Missouri Bd. for Architects, Prof'l Eng'rs & Land Surveyors v. Duncan, No. AR-84-0239 at 116-17 (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm'n Nov. 15, 1985), aff'd, 744 S.W.2d 524 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988); Forbes v. Missouri Real Estate Comm'n, 798 S.W.2d 227, 230 (Mo. App., W.D. 1990).  Barnes demonstrated a general lack of propensity to use his abilities in an appropriate, professional manner.  Therefore, there is cause for discipline because Barnes demonstrated incompetency.  Misconduct is defined as “the willful doing of an act with a wrongful intention[;] intentional wrongdoing.”  Duncan, No. AR-84-0239 at 125, aff’d, 744 S.W.2d 524 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).  Barnes’ actions were willful wrongdoing.  Therefore, there is cause to discipline for misconduct.  Gross negligence is “an act or course of conduct which demonstrates a conscious indifference to a professional duty,” and that indifference constitutes “a gross deviation from the standard of care which a reasonable person would exercise in the situation.”  Duncan v. Missouri Bd. for Architects, Prof'l Eng'rs and Land Surveyors, 744 S.W.2d 524, 533 and n.6 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).  Intent and indifference are mutually exclusive.  Therefore, there is cause to Barnes’ discipline for misconduct, but not for gross negligence.  


We have already concluded that fraud and dishonesty are essential elements of 18 USC § 1035.  Therefore, there is cause for discipline under § 190.165.2(5) for fraud and dishonesty.  We have also concluded that Barnes obtained or attempted to obtain a fee by misrepresentation.  Therefore, there is also cause for discipline under § 190.165.2(5) for misrepresentation.  

IV.  Violation of Statute or Regulation


The Department sets forth no statute in its complaint other than § 190.165.2, and no regulation that it alleges Barnes violated, other than its Regulation 19 CSR 30-40.365(2).  The 

regulation merely sets forth the same grounds for discipline as § 190.165.2.  The disciplinary statutes and this regulation, in themselves, are not “violated” when there is cause to discipline under their provisions.  They merely set out the conduct that is cause for discipline.  We find no cause to discipline under § 190.165.2(6) for violation of a statute or regulations.  

V.  Violation of Professional Trust or Confidence


A professional trust or confidence arises when a person relies on the special knowledge and skills of a professional that are evidenced by professional licensure.  State Bd. of Nursing v. Morris, BN-85-1498, at 11 (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm’n Jan. 4, 1988).  A professional trust may exist not only between the professional and his clients, but also between the professional and his employer and colleagues.  Id.  Barnes violated the professional trust of his employer and the client by falsifying the MARF.  We find cause for discipline under § 190.165.2(12) and 19 CSR 30-40.365(2)(L) because Barnes violated a professional trust or confidence.  

Summary


We conclude that Barnes’ license is subject to discipline under § 190.165.2(2), (4), (5) and (12), and Regulation 19 CSR 30-40.365(2)(B), (D), (E) and (L).  His license is not subject to discipline under § 190.165.2(6) and Regulation 19 CSR 30-40.365(2)(F).  We cancel the hearing.


SO ORDERED on January 30, 2004.  

________________________________

JUNE STRIEGEL DOUGHTY 

Commissioner

�Statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise noted.  
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